Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-5-2021

State v. Avila Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48500

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Antonio Avila pled guilty to domestic battery following a fight with his wife, and was sentenced to a unified term of eight years, with one and one-half years fixed. The district court did not retain jurisdiction, despite the prosecutor’s bargained-for recommendation. Mr. Avila appeals from his judgment of conviction, arguing the district court abused its discretion when it did not retain jurisdiction, considering the prosecutor’s recommendation and the substantial mitigating factors that exist in this case.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

Mr. Avila was charged by Information with one count of felony domestic battery. (R., pp.31-32.) He entered into an agreement with the State pursuant to which he agreed to plead guilty to the charged offense, and the State agreed to recommend a unified sentence of ten years, with five years fixed, with the district court retaining jurisdiction. (R., pp.34-42; Tr., p.5, L.12 – p.6, L.9.) At the change of plea hearing, Mr. Avila told the district court he “got into a big argument [with his wife] and . . . broke her hand.” (Tr., p.11, Ls.10-13.) He said, “[S]he swung at me and I swung back and I hit her hand and broke her hand.” (Tr., p.11, Ls.19-23.) The district court found a factual basis for Mr. Avila’s guilty plea and accepted the plea. (Tr., p.13, Ls.11-16.)

At sentencing, the district court began by reviewing the fact that the State was required “to recommend that the court retain jurisdiction and the defendant serve a rider.” (Tr., p.15, Ls.9-14.) The prosecutor said:

I do believe that this conduct would warrant a prison sentence, but as you have seen and know, I offered to recommend a rider. Based on the aforementioned, I am guessing that the court’s scratching its head as to why I would recommend a rider or the sentence that I’ve negotiated here

(Tr., p.19, L.21 – p.20, L.1.) The prosecutor told the district court that Mr. and Mrs. Avila were in the process of adopting their grandson when the fight occurred, and “she didn’t want to jeopardize that by reporting the conduct to the police.” (Tr., p.20, Ls.1-6.) The prosecutor said Mrs. Avila “didn’t want to see [her husband] in prison for a lengthy period of time . . . and so with a compromise of conscience, I made an offer of a rider . . . with a stiffer underlying sentence” (Tr., p.21, Ls.15-23.) The prosecutor thus recommended a rider. (Tr., p.22, L.15 – p.23, L.7.)

Counsel for Mr. Avila recommended that the district court place Mr. Avila on probation, with an underlying unified sentence of ten years, with three years fixed. (Tr., p.23, Ls.12-17.) Counsel told the district court that Mr. Avila had been successful on probation in the past, and had the support of his family and friends, and a possible job waiting. (Tr., p.23, L.19 – p.24, L.8, p.26, Ls.9-18.) Counsel explained that Mr. Avila had relapsed on drugs following the death of his son, and recognized he needed counseling to deal with the trauma, along with domestic violence treatment. (Tr., p.24, Ls.17-24.)

The district court sentenced Mr. Avila to a unified term of eight years, with one and one-half years fixed. (Tr., p.32, L.23 – p.33, L.4.) The district court did not retain jurisdiction, despite the prosecutor’s recommendation. The district court judge said, “I just don’t see him as somebody that ought to be put on a probation track that really sending someone on a rider is.” (Tr., p.32, Ls.18-20.) The district court entered a restitution order and a no contact order without objection. (*See R.*, pp.55-59.) The judgment of conviction was entered on December 4, 2020, and Mr. Avila filed a timely notice of appeal on December 14, 2020. (*R.*, pp.49-52, 60-62.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion at sentencing?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Abused Its Discretion At Sentencing When It Did Not Retain Jurisdiction

The Idaho Supreme Court has held that where, as here, a district court imposes a sentence within statutory limits, the appellant “has the burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the court imposing the sentence.” *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (quotation marks and citation omitted). In order to succeed on appeal under this standard, an

appellant “must establish that, under any reasonable view of the facts, the sentence was excessive considering the objectives of criminal punishment,” which are deterrence, the possibility of rehabilitation, punishment or retribution for wrongdoing, and the protection of society. *State v. Varie*, 135 Idaho 848, 856 (2001) (citation omitted). Mr. Avila can make the necessary showing, as the district court should have retained jurisdiction considering the four objectives of criminal punishment.

The first objective of criminal punishment is deterrence of the individual and the public generally. *See Varie*, 135 Idaho at 856. The sentence imposed by the district court would serve no less of a deterrent effect if the district court had retained jurisdiction. Allowing Mr. Avila the opportunity to earn a chance at probation would not reduce his underlying sentence, and the deterrent effect of that sentence.

The second objective of criminal punishment is the possibility of rehabilitation. *See Varie*, 135 Idaho at 856. Mr. Avila recognizes he needs substance abuse treatment, domestic violence treatment, and help coping with the loss of his son, but contends he could obtain the treatment he needs on a rider program or in the community. Indeed, the domestic violence evaluator recommended Mr. Avila complete a 52-week domestic violence treatment program, which is a community-based program. (*See Conf. Exs.*, p.235.) Mr. Avila has been accepted into Rising Sun Sober Living and intends to live there if released on probation. (Tr., p.25, Ls.15-17; *see Conf. Exs.*, p.269.) Sending Mr. Avila straight to prison has the effect of hindering, rather than aiding in, his rehabilitation.

The third objective of criminal punishment is punishment. *See Varie*, 135 Idaho at 856. This objective is important here, as the crime of conviction stems from an act of violence. But this objective was realized by the fact Mr. Avila was incarcerated immediately following his

arrest. (*See* Conf. Exs., p.212.) And he would be incarcerated even while participating in a rider program, and possibly after completing the program, depending on his performance.

The fourth objective of criminal punishment is the protection of society. *See Varie*, 135 Idaho at 856. This objective was adequately served in this case by the no-contact order entered by the district court, which permits Mr. Avila to contact his wife only for the purpose of speaking to their minor child (their adopted grandson). (Tr., p.25, Ls.13-16; R., pp.55-56.) In addition, the district court would not have been obligated to place Mr. Avila on probation following the completion of the period of retained jurisdiction. Had the district court had any doubt about the risk posed by Mr. Avila, it could have relinquished jurisdiction over him. But to deny Mr. Avila the chance at probation on the record presented was an abuse of discretion.

Mr. Avila apologized to his wife at sentencing. (Tr., p.27, Ls.19-20.) He explained that he took the death of his son hard and he “went down the wrong track” and “should have asked for help.” (Tr., p.27, Ls.20-25.) He said:

[I]t’s something that I don’t wish upon anybody, you know, because it’s very hard when . . . one of your kids dies. They’re supposed to bury you. You’re not supposed to bury them. And, you know, I should have talked to my wife, and I love my wife very much, but I don’t know. I just went off the deep end.

(Tr., p.28, Ls.1-8.) He said he could find the tools to help him outside of prison. (Tr., p.29, Ls.1-3.) Mr. Avila had the support of family and friends, and job possibilities lined up. (Tr., p.26, Ls.9-18; *see* Conf. Exs., pp.264-67.) He would like to spend time with his children and grandchildren and obtain his associate’s degree. (Tr., p.26, Ls.22-25.) The district court should have been given Mr. Avila the opportunity to complete a rider program.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Avila respectfully requests that this Court vacate his sentence and remand this case to the district court for a new sentencing hearing.