Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

10-28-2021

### State v. Avila Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48500

A. Introduction

In April of 2020, Antonio Llanes Avila threatened his wife, Christa, with a bat, and hit her left hand with his hand. (PSI. p. 1.) Avila broke Christa’s hand, and she also suffered a cut behind her left ear. (PSI, p. 1.) The state charged Avila with one count of felony domestic violence or

battery. (R., pp. 31-32.) Avila pleaded guilty to felony domestic violence or battery, and the district court sentenced him to eight years, with 1.5 years determinate. (R., pp. 47-51.) Avila then filed a timely appeal. (R., pp. 60-61.)

On appeal, Avila argues that “the district court abused its discretion when it did not retain jurisdiction.” (Appellant’s brief, p. 1.) Avila has failed to show that the district court abused its discretion by declining to retain jurisdiction.

B. Standard Of Review

In evaluating whether a lower court abused its discretion, the appellate court conducts a four-part inquiry, which asks “whether the trial court: (1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion; (3) acted consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (4) reached its decision by the exercise of reason.” State v. Herrera, 164 Idaho 261, 270, 429 P.3d 149, 158 (2018) (citing Lunneborg v. My Fun Life, 163 Idaho 856, 863, 421 P.3d 187, 194 (2018)).

The decision whether to retain jurisdiction is a matter within the sound discretion of the district court and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. State v. Lee, 117 Idaho 203, 205-06, 786 P.2d 594, 596-97 (Ct. App. 1990). The primary purpose of a district court retaining jurisdiction is to enable the court to obtain additional information regarding whether the defendant has sufficient rehabilitative potential and is suitable for probation. State v. Jones, 141 Idaho 673, 677, 115 P.3d 764, 768 (Ct. App. 2005). Probation is the ultimate goal of retained jurisdiction. Id. There can be no abuse of discretion if the district court has sufficient evidence before it to conclude that the defendant is not a suitable candidate for probation. Id.

C. Avila Has Shown No Abuse Of The District Court's Discretion

The record shows the district court perceived its discretion, employed the correct legal standards to the issue before it, and acted reasonably and within the scope of its discretion.

At the sentencing hearing, the district court stated it “read the pre-sentence report” and the “domestic violence evaluation.” (Tr., p. 29, Ls. 18-20.) The district court considered “protection of the community,” as well as “rehabilitation, deterrence, and punishment.” (Tr., p. 29, Ls. 23-24.) The district court stated Avila “pleaded guilty to a significant crime of violence against [his] wife involving hitting her hard enough to break her hand.” (Tr., p. 29, L. 25 – p. 30, L. 4.) The district court noted that Avila “attributed,” his violent behavior “to a fair degree,” to “a relapse on drugs,” but, while that “may well be a contributor,” Avila had a lengthy history of violence and domestic violence. (Tr., p. 30, Ls. 6-12.) The district court also noted Avila “had a prior stint in prison a long while back based on some forgery charges” from 2005. (Tr., p. 30, Ls. 13-15.)

The district court stated the “domestic violence evaluation notes [Avila's] substantial lifetime history of violent behavior,” concludes that he's “a high risk for future intimate partner violence,” and notes Avila was demonstrating “some minimization and some degree of denial.” (Tr., p. 30, Ls. 16-21.) The district court stated Avila's “level of accountability perhaps leaves something to be desired, involves some degree of minimization of what has happened,” but there “are some bright sides here.” (Tr., p. 31, Ls. 1-4.) The district court credited Avila for obtaining “spots in outpatient substance abuse and domestic violence programs, so [he's] welcomed the notion of treatment and appear[s] to believe that it would benefit [him].” (Tr., p. 31, Ls. 5-8.) The district court stated it doesn't “doubt how difficult dealing with the loss of a son must be for almost any parent, and [the district court] can understand how that might send someone into a tailspin,” but wasn't sure “that you can draw a very straight line between that and the willingness to engage

in abusive sorts of behavior.” (Tr., p. 31, Ls. 9-17.) The district court stated it seems “to be something that likely afflicts [Avila] independently of [his] use of illegal substances. Certainly there are indicia of controlling and threatening behaviors that are beyond the outburst of violence here that resulted in breaking Ms. Avila’s hand.” (Tr., p. 31, Ls. 17-22.)

The district court determined that this “is an appropriate case for a prison sentence that is simply imposed. It’s not going to be as long as the sentence the state had recommended and asked for a retained jurisdiction,” but “Mr. Avila has earned, through his behavior here, a return trip to the penitentiary and can work on himself there.” (Tr., p. 32, Ls. 12-18.) The district court didn’t see Avila “as somebody that ought to be put on a probation track that really sending someone on a rider is.” (Tr., p. 32, Ls. 18-20.)

Avila argues that the “district court should have retained jurisdiction considering the four objectives of criminal punishment.” (Appellant’s brief, p. 4.) Avila’s argument does not show an abuse of discretion. His LSI score is thirty-three, placing Avila in the high risk to reoffend category. (PSI, p. 3.) Avila's extensive criminal history consists of numerous battery convictions and opportunities on probation. (PSI, pp. 10-14.) The presentence investigator stated that Avila “appeared to blame his abuse of methamphetamine, reportedly to cope with the grief of losing his son in 2018, as being the reason for his aggressive and violent behaviors.” (PSI, p. 17.) The presentence investigator noted that “Avila has a lengthy and significant criminal history which ... includes over 10 instances of aggression/assault/violence dating back to 1993.” (PSI, p. 17.) Moreover, Avila “has been supervised on community supervision on more than one occasion and has received domestic violence treatment” which did not prevent his criminal and violent acts in this case. (PSI, p. 17.) The presentence investigator also stated that Avila “has demonstrated he is not willing to abide by no contact orders in the current offense as well as in Ada County case

CR01-20-30053.” (PSI, p. 17.) In August of 2020, authorities responded to another domestic dispute at Avila’s residence. (PSI, pp. 41-42.) In that event, Christa and Avila were arguing over their grandson, and Christa reported that Avila pushed her into the corner of an end table and slapped her face. (PSI, p. 42.)

Avila’s continued criminal pattern of domestic violence shows that he presents a significant risk to society. Avila’s extensive criminal history and previous periods on probation shows that he is not amenable to community supervision, and a rider is not necessary to conclude that Avila is not a suitable candidate for probation. Avila broke his wife’s hand in a fight, and a lesser sentence would depreciate the seriousness of the instant offense. His conduct caused harm, and will continue to threaten harm without a period of incarceration. Imprisonment provides appropriate punishment and deterrent to Avila, and there’s an undue risk that he will reoffend without a period of imprisonment. Avila has failed to show that the district court abused its discretion by declining to retain jurisdiction.

### CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court.